
 
CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting – Agenda 
 

January 17, 2023 at 6:00 PM | Pooler City Hall | 100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322 

1 of 2 

 
    
I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM 
    
II. CALL TO ORDER 
    
III. INVOCATION 
    
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
    
V. ANNOUNCEMENTS 
    
VI. CONSENT AGENDA 
  A. City Council Meeting Minutes of December 19, 2022 
  B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of December 19, 2022 
  C. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Commodores Deaux, LLC 

at 100 Pine Barren Road, Suite 112 
  D. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Traders Queen DBA 

Ichiban Steakhouse and Sushi Bar at 40 Traders Way 
  E. Temporary/Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application 

for Karen Taylor Brownlee on January 28, 2023 
  F. Temporary/Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application 

for Jacqueline Lambert on March 3-4, 2023 
  G. Department Reports 
  1. Public Works 
  2. Finance 
  3. Fire 
  4. Police 
  5. Recreation 
  6. Planning & Zoning 
    
VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS 
  A. Proclamation for Human Trafficking Prevention Month 
  B. Resolution R2023-01.A - To Fix and Publish Municipal Election 

Qualifying Period and Fees 



 

2 of 2 

    
VIII. OLD BUSINESS 
  A. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2 
    
IX. NEW BUSINESS 
  A. Amend Zoning Conditions for 12 Outparcels of the Clyde E. Daniels 

Tract (Public Hearing, Action) 
  B. Conditional Use Request for an Assisted Living Facility in Clear Lake 

Reserve (Public Hearing, Action) 
  C. Conditional Use Request for American Craftsman Renovations to 

Operate a Cabinet Manufacturing Business at 1018 West Highway 
80, Suite 300 (Public Hearing, Action) 

  D. Amendment to the Wynn-Capallo PUD Master Plan and Development 
Standards (Public Hearing, Action) 

  E. Site Plan for Nordic Drive Trailer Storage Yard 
  F. Site Plan for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road 
  G. Site Plan for Harmony Subdivision Amenity Site 
  H. Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circle 
  I. Site Plan for Dave & Busters on Tanger Outlets Boulevard 
  J. Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway) 
  K. Site Plan for Walk On's Restaurant and Vet Center on Half Moon Way 
  L. Site Plan for Highway 80 Car Wash 
  M. Underground Facilities Locating and Marking Service Agreement 

with Benchmark Subsurface Utility Services 
  N. Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor with Ty Wilson 
  O. Contract for Municipal Court Public Defender with Lauren Tignor 
    
X. EXECUTIVE SESSION 
    
XI. ADJOURNMENT 
 



 
CITY COUNCIL 

Regular Meeting – Minutes 
 

December 19, 2022 at 6:00 PM | Pooler City Hall | 100 US Hwy 80 SW, Pooler, GA 
31322 

1 of 11 

 
    
I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM  
  Present: Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 

Tom Hutcherson, Mayor Pro Tem 
Shannon Black, Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins, Councilmember 
Stevie Wall, Councilmember 
Karen Williams, Councilmember  
Robert Byrd, City Manager   
Craig Call, City Attorney    
Chris Lightle, Finance Officer   
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council    

    
Absent: John Wilcher, Councilmember  

Steve Scheer, City Attorney   
    
II. CALL TO ORDER  
  Mayor Rebecca Benton called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
    
III. INVOCATION  
  Pastor Micah Ellington of Rothwell Baptist Church gave the invocation. 
    
IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
  Pastor Micah Ellington led the pledge. 
    
V. ANNOUNCEMENTS  
  

 

    
VI. CONSENT AGENDA  
  City Manager Robert Byrd presented the consent agenda for consideration. 
  A. City Council Meeting Minutes of December 5, 2022  
    

 

  B. Special Event Permit Application for OTG Certified Car Club on July 
8, 2023  

    
 



 

2 of 11 

  C. Temporary / Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application 
for Sam Patel on December 31, 2022  

    
 

  D. Department Reports  
    

 

  1. Public Works  
    

 

  2. Finance  
    

 

  3. Fire  
    

 

  4. Police  
    

 

  5. Recreation  
    

 

  6. Planning & Zoning  
     

 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the consent agenda. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins made a motion to amend the agenda by 
moving item "Zoning Buffer Requirement Variance for 1707 Old Dean Forest 
Road" from Old Business to New Business. 
 
Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS: 
 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins made a motion to amend the agenda by 
adding item "Wrecker Service Agreement" to New Business. 
 
Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS)  
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams  



 

3 of 11 

NAYS:  
    
VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS  
  

 

  A. Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget 
(Second Reading)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the second reading of 
Resolution R2022-12.A - To Approve the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  B. Resolution R2022-12.B - 2023 City Holidays  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 

Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve Resolution R2022-12.B - 
2023 City Holidays. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  C. Resolution R2022-12.C - 2023 City Events  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 

Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve Resolution R2022-12.C - 
2023 City Events. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  D. Resolution R2022-12.D - Authorization to Proceed with Acquisitions 
and Condemnations for the Quacco Road Widening Project  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the resolution for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve Resolution R2022-12.D - 
Authorization to Proceed with Acquisitions and Condemnations for the 
Quacco Road Widening Project. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 



 

4 of 11 

SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  E. Resolution 2022-12.E - To Approve a Distribution of Local Option 
Sales Tax (LOST) Proceeds  

    Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve Resolution 2022-12.E - To 
Approve a Distribution of Local Option Sales Tax (LOST) Proceeds. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
VIII. OLD BUSINESS  
  

 

  A. Site Plan for 125 Distribution Drive  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. Patrick 

Warner was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Site Plan for 125 
Distribution Drive subject to the recording of the stormwater agreement 
prior to a preconstruction meeting. 
 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  B. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. 

David Hornsby was present on behalf of the petitioner to request a 
postponement. Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to postpone the 
Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2 until the 
January 17, 2023 City Council Meeting. 
 
Motion to Postpone; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
IX. NEW BUSINESS  
  

 



 

5 of 11 

  A. Zoning Map Amendment for a 0.74-Acre Lot on the Corner of South 
Rogers and Tietgen Streets from C-1 to Main Street Overlay District 
(Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. Holly 
Young was present on behalf the petitioner to answer questions. Mayor 
Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins, upon review of the criteria, moved to 
approve the Zoning Map Amendment for a 0.74-Acre Lot on the Corner of 
South Rogers and Tietgen Streets from C-1 to Main Street Overlay District. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  B. Zoning Map Amendment for SDP Acquisitions (Oglethorpe Speedway 
and Surrounding Properties AKA Country Homes)  from RA-2 to I-1 
(Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the amendment for consideration. 
Harold Yellin, Bob Burdell, Greg Coleman, Chris Marsengill, and John Young 
were present to answer questions. Mayor Rebecca Benton opened the public 
hearing. Harold Yellin asked all those present in the audience in favor of the 
amendment to show their support by standing after which John Young 
added that 93 of the 95 property owners had sold. Tammy D. Edenfield N. 
Luna represented her daughter, resident Rebecca L. Arias-Luna, via cellular 
phone and expressed their reasons for not selling their property to date. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton closed the public hearing. Councilmember Aaron 
Higgins, upon review of the criteria, moved to approve the Zoning Map 
Amendment for SDP Acquisitions (Oglethorpe Speedway and Surrounding 
Properties AKA Country Homes) from RA-2 to I-1 with the following 
conditions on the rezoning: 

1. Continued access to Raymond Road through the aforementioned 
property 
 

2. Discontinued access to Dublin Road through the aforementioned 
property 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  



 

6 of 11 

  C. Conditional Use Request for Goodwill Industries to Operate an 
Apparel Demanufacturing Business at 111 Coleman Boulevard, Suite 
300 (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the request for consideration. Jason 
Marsh was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. Mayor 
Rebecca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve the Conditional Use 
Request for Goodwill Industries to Operate an Apparel Demanufacturing 
Business at 111 Coleman Boulevard, Suite 300. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  D. Height Variance Request for Big Shot Golf Driving Range in Mosaic 
Retail Center at Pooler Parkway (Public Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the variance for consideration. CC BGS 
Savnnah, LLC was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Mayor Rebecca Benton opened the public hearing. Resident John Hayden 
expressed his concern regarding potentially setting a precedent for future 
height variances for signage. City Attorney Craig Call replied that a sign 
ordinance is in place and that each variance is considered on its own merit. 
Chief Wade Simmons added that the variance request is for poles, not signs, 
and that Pooler Fire-Rescue has both the equipment and training to address 
any potential incidents at the requested variance height. Mayor Rebecca 
Benton closed the public hearing. Councilmember Aaron Higgins, upon 
review of the criteria, moved to approve the Height Variance Request (not 
to exceed 175') for Big Shot Golf Driving Range in Mosaic Retail Center at 
Pooler Parkway. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Black 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  E. Front Yard Building Setback Variance for a Proposed American Pet 
Resort Located in the Clear Lake Reserve Development (Public 
Hearing, Action)  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the variance for consideration. Bob 
McCann was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. Mayor 
Rebcca Benton opened and closed the public hearing without comment. 
Councilmember Karen Williams, upon review of the criteria, moved to 
approve the Front Yard Building Setback Variance for a Proposed American 



 

7 of 11 

Pet Resort Located in the Clear Lake Reserve Development. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  F. Site Plan for Arden Senior Living at Pine Barren Road  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. C.J. 

Chance was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Site Plan for Arden 
Senior Living at Pine Barren Road subject to the following conditions: 

1. Plans for site access must attain site plan approval; Certificate of 
Occupancy will not be issued until approved site access has been 
constructed and accepted 
 

2. Plans for water service must attain site plan approval; Certificate of 
Occupancy will not be issued until approved water system has been 
constructed and accepted 
 

3. City ordinance for 6' wide sidewalks is followed 
 

4. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  G. Site Plan for the Davis Group Development (Pooler One) at Pine 
Barren Road  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the site plan for consideration. C.J. 
Chance was present on behalf of the petitioner to answer questions. 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to approve the Site Plan for the Davis 
Group Development (Pooler One) at Pine Barren Road subject to the 
following conditions: 

1. The design engineer shall work with the City of Pooler Water 
Department to address water main locations. The main shall be 
modified such that it is acceptable to the City Public Works 
Department. 
 



 

8 of 11 

2. Per City Staff, the City will be responsible for handling the design and 
timing of the Pooler Parkway & Pine Barren Road intersection. The 
lighting plan shall be permitted under the scope of the building permit 
and shall be submitted when available and demonstrate that the City's 
illumination standards have been achieved. All lighting standards shall 
be met prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 
 

3. The sidewalks shall be 6' wide. The Morgan Family PUD does not have 
any language regarding sidewalk width. Therefore, the City of Pooler 
standards apply. Plans shall be resubmitted and accepted by the City 
prior to the preconstruction meeting. 
 

4. Recording of the stormwater agreement prior to a preconstruction 
meeting. 

 
Motion to Approve with Stipulations; PASSED (4-1) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Williams 
NAYS: Wall 

  H. Sales & Use Tax Refund Engagement Agreement with Tax Specialists 
of Georgia-Southeast, LLC  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the agreement for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Sales & Use Tax Refund 
Engagement Agreement with Tax Specialists of Georgia-Southeast, LLC. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  I. Water Line Cost Sharing Agreement Between the City of Pooler and 
Clear Lake (GA) Owner I, LLC  

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the agreement for consideration. 
Councilmember Stevie Wall moved to approve the Water Line Cost Sharing 
Agreement Between the City of Pooler and Clear Lake (GA) Owner I, LLC in 
the amount of $178,481.90, subject to City Attorney approval. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Wall 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  J. Fire Aerial Ladder Sale Agreement with Liberty County  



 

9 of 11 

    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the agreement for consideration. Chief 
Wade Simmons reviewed the sale. Councilmember Karen Williams moved to 
approve the Fire Aerial Ladder Sale Agreement with Liberty County in the 
amount of $45,000. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  K. Zoning Buffer Requirement Variance for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road  
    City Manager Robert Byrd presented the variance for consideration. Jerry 

Hubach and Jessica Vick were present to answer questions. Councilmember 
Aaron Higgins, upon review of the criteria, moved to approve the Zoning 
Buffer Requirement Variance for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  L. Wrecker Service Agreement  
    Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Wrecker Service 

Agreement subject to City Attorney approval. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

  M. Agreement with Holland & Knight for Legal Counsel Related to State 
Funding  

    Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to approve the Engagement 
Agreement with Holland & Knight for Legal Counsel Related to Library 
Funding not to exceed $50,000. 
 
Motion to Approve; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
X. EXECUTIVE SESSION  



 

10 of 11 

  With no further public business to conduct, Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved 
to enter Executive Session. Council entered Executive Session at 7:48 p.m. 
 
Motion to Enter Executive Session; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
Mayor Rebecca C. Benton called the meeting back to order at 8:46 p.m. 
 
Councilmember Karen Williams moved to amend the agenda by adding 
"Resolution 2022-12.E - To Approve a Distribution of Local Option Sales Tax 
(LOST) Proceeds" to Ordinances, Proclamations, & Resolutions. 
 
Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Williams 
SECONDER: Higgins 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to amend the agenda by adding 
"Agreement with Holland & Knight for Legal Counsel Related to Library Funding" 
to New Business. 
 
Motion to Amend; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Hutcherson 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  

    
XI. ADJOURNMENT  
  Councilmember Aaron Higgins moved to adjourn the meeting. 

 
Motion to Adjourn; PASSED (UNANIMOUS) 
MOVER: Higgins 
SECONDER: Williams 
AYES: Black, Higgins, Hutcherson, Wall, Williams 
NAYS:  
 
The meeting adjourned at 8:51 p.m. 
 
 
The foregoing minutes are true and correct and approved by me on this _____ 
day of ______________, 2023. 



 

11 of 11 

 
 
_______________________________ 
Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________________ 
Kiley Fusco, Clerk of Council 

 





































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Matthew Saxon 

Assistant City Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNCIL REPORT 

Report for the month of December 2022 

Street: 

• Continued routine maintenance throughout the city repairing potholes, sidewalks, and shoulder work.  

 

Signs: 

• Replaced 15 signs throughout the city. 

Street Sweeper: 

• 30 miles swept. 

 

Storm Water:  

• Completed routine residential workorders. 

• Completed 15,425 of routine roadside ditch and outfall maintenance.  

Canal Maintenance:  

• Continued routine maintenance throughout the city 2.5 miles. 

• Mowed and cleaned Pipemakers canal from I-95 West to Pooler Parkway. 

• Removed 4 Live Oak trees along the JCB Canal.  

 

Public Works Admin: 

• Reviewed 16 sets of site plans.  

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Matthew E. Saxon  

Assistant City Manager 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Matt Saxon 

Assistant City Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COUNCIL REPORT 

Report for the month of December   

Mrs. Williams, 

It gives me great pleasure to present to you, the work that our Wastewater Treatment Plant, 

Sewer, and Water Departments have accomplished since the last council meeting: 

Water: 

         

Inspected 50 Grease trap inspections. 

43 C.O inspections conducted. 

Repaired 19 residential water service laterals. 

Repaired 3 commercial water service laterals.  

Notified via phone/email 28 residents with high volumes of water usage from leak alarm 

report during the freeze. 

64 reported water issues and/or leaks during the freezing period at Christmas. Visited all 

addresses and assisted customers to help resolve issues.  

       Witnessed the testing and certification of 55 backflow preventers. 

Performed 667 line locates requested by the (UPC) Utility Protection Center. 

 

Sewer & WWTP:  

EOM report attached. 

  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Matt Saxon   

Assistant City Manager 



From: Caroline Hankins <chankins@pooler-ga.gov> 
Sent: Friday, January 6, 2023 2:33 PM
To: John Winn <JWinn@POOLER-GA.GOV>; Matt Saxon <MSaxon@POOLER-GA.GOV>; Robert Smith
<robertj4485@yahoo.com>; Donald Brown <DBrown@POOLER-GA.GOV>
Cc: Robert Byrd Jr. <Rbyrd@POOLER-GA.GOV>
Subject: Great Job Rob!

We received a phone call today from a resident regarding Rob answering a call Tuesday after
Christmas.  The homeowner was not home but the neighbors called in the leak and tried to
help.

The resident said it was after dark and were surprised someone came out.  They said Rob came
out very quickly and was extremely pleasant.  He did a “fine job and was very helpful”.  She
said we have a great employee and wanted to let us know.

Thanks so much for doing a great job Rob!

And to all for all the other major leaks over the cold holiday.

Best,
Caroline

Caroline Hankins, MPA, HR Director
CITY OF POOLER

100 US Highway 80 SW
Pooler, GA 31322

T: (912) 748-7261 ext. 114 
chankins@pooler-ga.gov | pooler-ga.gov

mailto:chankins@pooler-ga.gov
http://www.pooler-ga.gov/



 

 
  DECEMBER 

2022 
Monthly Report 

480 Edsel Drive, Ste 100 
Richmond Hill, GA 31324 
912.445.0050 
www.eomworx.com 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
         
 
 
 
Content                 Section 
 
Executive Summary…………………………………………………………………………………… 1.0 
 
Wastewater Treatment ……………………………………………………………….………... 2.0  
 
Collections & Distribution….…………………….…………………………………….……….. 3.0 
 
Engineering …..…………….……………………………………………………………….………….....  4.0 
 
Administration………………………..……………………………………………………………………. 5.0 
 
Appendix …………………………………………………………………………………………………………6.0 
 
 
   



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

SECTION 1.0  
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
EOM is pleased to provide this revised monthly report to the City 
of Pooler for review.  Departmental reports and requested 
supplemental data can be found enclosed.  
 
MONTH HIGHLIGHT 
 

- SEWER – Responded to (4) grinder pump calls 
- SEWER – Responded to (13) sewer blockage/leak calls 
- SEWER – Completed 2 Sewer Repairs 

o Lisa’s Court 
o Gleason Ave 

- WASTEWATER LIFT STATIONS 
o PO-LS-16.05: Somersby Lift Station – Replaced station alarm 
o PO-LS-08.05:  Pooler Park of Commerce Lift Station – Replaced alarm 

bell bulbs 
o PO-LS-08.05:  Pooler Park of Commerce Lift Station – Replaced alarm 

bell bulbs 
o PO-LS-14.05:  S.H. Morgan Lift Station – Replaced thermals 
o PO-LS-37.05:  North Skinner St Lift Station – Conduit and sensor 

installation  
- WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT 

o PO-WW-UV-18:  Composite Sampler – Replaced intake tubing 
o PO-WW-PM-13: Permeate Pump_4 – Replaced pump flange and 

piping 
o PO-WW-GR-35: Fine Screen-2 Gear Unit 2 – Replaced bearings and 

seals in gearbox and replaced stabilizer hinge 
o PO-WW-RW-05: Mechanical Bar Screen_2 – Replaced bearings and 

seals in gearbox and shaft bearings on drum 
o PO-WW-AS-06: Blower 5_ Aeration Grid – Replaced remote display 

 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

  
 
 
  

WASTEWATER 
TREATMENT 

Section 2.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

 

SECTION 2.0 
WASTEWATER TREATMENT 
 
Table 1 – WASTEWATER TREATMENT PLANT PERMIT COMPARISON 
 

  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

  

COLLECTIONS & 
DISTRIBUTION 

Section 3.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

SECTION 3.0 
COLLECTIONS & DISTRIBUTION 
 
Table 1 – SEWER MAINTENANCE WORK ORDER REPORT 

  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

  

ENGINEERING 

Section 4.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

 

SECTION 4.0 
ENGINEERING 
SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 

I. Approved Projects 
▪ Arden Senior Living Center 
▪ Parlor Water Main Extension 
▪ Davis Group Development 
▪ Walk On’s & Veterinary Center 
▪ 1707 Old Dean Forest Rd 
▪ Nordic Trailer Storage Yard 
▪ My Place Hotel 
▪ Harmony Subdivision - Amenity 
▪ Hwy 80 Car Wash 
▪ Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension 

 
II. Projects Under Review 

▪ Nine Squares (Submittal #3) 
▪ Tanger Outlet Mall – Outparcel 2 (Submittal #1) 
▪ Jimmy Deloach - Single Family (Submittal #1) 
▪ Harmony Subdivision – Phase 7 - Revised Plans (Submittal #1) 
▪ Valvoline (Submittal #1) 
▪ Pittman Subaru (Submittal #2) 
▪ 212 E Hwy 80 (Submittal #1) 
▪ Dave & Buster’s at Tanger Outlets 

 
III. Projects Waiting On Responses 

▪ Element Hotel & Commercial Space – 3rd review completed on 
12/28/2022 

▪ Towne Place Pooler – 5th review completed on 12/21/2022 
▪ Dave & Buster’s at Tanger Outlets – 1st review completed on 11/29/2022 
▪ Pooler One – Pine Barren Road Entrance  - 1st review completed on 

11/22/2022 
▪ Quik Trip – 5th review completed on 11/16/2022 
▪ Pooler Parkway & Quacco Rd Widening – 2nd review completed on 

10/11/2022 
▪ Transportation Logistics Terminal Tract 2A – 1st review completed on 

11/8/2022 
▪ Sharon Court – 2nd review completed on 10/24/2022 
▪ Lot 3 Dean Forest Business Park – 3rd review completed on 10/18/2022 
▪ Barrow Drive Trailer Parking Extension – 2nd review completed on 

9/8/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L1 – 2nd review completed on 9/8/2022 
▪ Westbrook Area L2 – 2nd Review Completed on 9/8/2022 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 

▪ Westbrook Area L3 – 2nd Review completed on 9/8/2022 
▪ Bragg Tract Phase 1 – 1st review completed on 9/22/2022 
▪ Pittman Subaru – 1st review completed on 9/23/2022 

 
IV. ADDITIONAL ENGINEERING SERVICES 

▪ Additional items were added to the design of Lift Station #21 & 22. City 
has since authorized project for construction.  

▪ Initial 2022 LMIG Bid Documents were submitted to the City in 
Summer 2022. Currently pending review and response from City.   

 
 
  

 
 
  
 
  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

  

ADMINISTRATION 

Section 5.0 



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

SECTION 5.0 
ADMINISTRATION 
 
 
BUDGET 
 

 
  



 

Pooler Monthly Report – December 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 

Section 6.0 



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:
ADDRESS:

FACILITY:
LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of
100 Southwest Hwy 80
Pooler, GA 31322
Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road
Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)
DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD
YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

22 11 01 22 11 30

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge
External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood
Wastewater Manager WW1-015056

912 445-1894 22 12 12

1

 

  QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

 VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS    
OXYGEN, DISSOLVED
(DO)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** 7.9 **** ****  mg/L 0 01/01 GR GRAB

00300  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

6.0
MINIMUM

**** ****
 mg/L  01/01 GR GRAB

BOD, 5-DAY
(20 DEG. C)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 45.9 48.7  lb/d **** 2.0 2.0  mg/L 0 03/DW CP

COMPOS
00310  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

82.6
MO AVG

102.6
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 3.0
MO AVG

4.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L  03/DW CP

COMPOS
BOD, 5-DAY
(20 DEG. C)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 2819 3289  lb/d **** 230 266  mg/L 0 03/DW CP

COMPOS
00310  1  0  0
RAW SEWAGE INFLUENT

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  mg/L  03/DW CP

COMPOS
PH
 

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** 6.4 **** 7.1  SU 0 01/01 GR GRAB

00400  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

6.0
MINIMUM

**** 8.5
MAXIMUM  SU  01/01 GR GRAB

SOLIDS, TOTAL
SUSPENDED

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 22.9 24.4  lb/d **** 1.0 1.0  mg/L 0 03/DW CP

COMPOS
00530  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

138.0
MO AVG

172.0
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 5.0
MO AVG

7.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L  03/DW CP

COMPOS
SOLIDS, TOTAL
SUSPENDED

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 2387 2631  lb/d **** 193 199  mg/L 0 03/DW CP

COMPOS
00530  1  0  0
RAW SEWAGE INFLUENT

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

Req Mon
WKLY AVG  mg/L  03/DW CP

COMPOS
NITROGEN, ORGANIC
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 3.540 ****  mg/L 0 01/30 CP

COMPOS
00605  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L  01/30 CP

COMPOS



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:
ADDRESS:

FACILITY:
LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of
100 Southwest Hwy 80
Pooler, GA 31322
Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road
Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)
DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD
YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

22 11 01 22 11 30

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge
External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood
Wastewater Manager WW1-015056

912 445-1894 22 12 12

2

 

  QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

 VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS    
NITROGEN, AMMONIA
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 7.0 13.4  lb/d **** 0.3 0.6  mg/L 0 03/DW CP

COMPOS
00610  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

11.0
MO AVG

13.8
WKLY AVG  lb/d

**** 0.4
MO AVG

0.6
WKLY AVG  mg/L  03/DW CP

COMPOS
NITROGEN, KJELDAHL
TOTAL (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 3.650 ****  mg/L 0 01/30 CP

COMPOS
00625  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L  01/30 CP

COMPOS
NITRITE PLUS NITRATE
TOTAL 1 DET. (AS N)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 12.7 ****  mg/L 0 01/30 CP

COMPOS
00630  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L  01/30 CP

COMPOS
PHOSPHORUS, TOTAL
(AS P)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 2.8 3.8 **** **** 0.3 0.4  mg/L 0 03/DW CP

COMPOS
00665  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

27.5
MO AVG

34.4
WKLY AVG ****

**** 1.0
MO AVG

1.5
WKLY AVG  mg/L  03/DW CP

COMPOS
PHOSPHATE, ORTHO (AS
P)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 0.240 ****  mg/L 0 01/30 CP

COMPOS
04175  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 mg/L  01/30 CP

COMPOS
FLOW, IN CONDUIT OR
THRU TREATMENT PLANT

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 2.8 2.93  MGD **** **** ****  **** 0 99/99 CN CONTIN

50050  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

3.3
MO AVG

4.2
WKLY AVG  MGD

**** **** ****
****  99/99 CN CONTIN

COLIFORM, FECAL
GENERAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 1.6 3.1  #/100mL 0 02/DA GR GRAB

74055  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** 23
MO GEO

23
WKLY GEO  #/100mL  02/DA GR GRAB



PERMITTEE NAME/ADDRESS (Include Facility Name/Location if Different)

NAME:
ADDRESS:

FACILITY:
LOCATION:

 

Pooler City of
100 Southwest Hwy 80
Pooler, GA 31322
Pooler, City of (Bloomingdale Regional WPCP)

Winskie Road
Pooler GA 31322

NATIONAL POLLUTANT DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES)
DISCHARGE MONITORING REPORT (DMR)

FROM TO

PERMIT NUMBER DISCHARGE NUMBER

MONITORING PERIOD
YEAR YEARMO MODAY DAY

GA0047066 002-B3

22 11 01 22 11 30

DMR MAILING ZIP CODE:

Form Approved

OMB No. 2040-0004

Page

MAJOR

WPCP Discharge
External Outfall

No Discharge

EPA Form 3320-1 (Rev.01/06) Previous editions may be used.

COMMENTS AND EXPLANATION OF ANY VIOLATIONS (Reference all attachments here)

NAME/TITLE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

TYPED OR PRINTED
SIGNATURE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER OR

AUTHORIZED AGENT AREA Code NUMBER YEAR MO DAY

TELEPHONE DATEI certify under penalty of law that this document and all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to assure that qualified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based on my inquiry of the person or persons who manage the
system, or those persons directly responsible for gathering the information, the information submitted is,
to the best of my knowledge and belief, true, accurate, and complete. I am aware that there are significant
penalties for submitting false information, including the possibility of fine and imprisonment for knowing
violations.

Marcus Hobgood
Wastewater Manager WW1-015056

912 445-1894 22 12 12

3

 

  QUANTITY OR LOADING QUALITY OR CONCENTRATION NO.
EX

FREQUENCY
OF ANALYSIS

SAMPLE
TYPEPARAMETER

 VALUE VALUE UNITS VALUE VALUE VALUE UNITS    
CYANIDE, TOTAL
(AS CN)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 3.6000 ****  ug/L 0 01/30 GR GRAB

00720  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** ****
MO AVG

****
 ug/L  01/30 GR GRAB

MERCURY, TOTAL
(AS HG)

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** **** 7.60 ****  ng/L 0 01/30 GR GRAB

71900  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

**** ****
MO AVG

****
 ng/L  01/30 GR GRAB

SOLIDS, SUSPENDED
PERCENT REMOVAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** ****  dry ton 99.5 **** ****  % 0 01/30 CA CALCTD

81011  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 dry ton

>85
MINIMUM

**** ****
 %  01/30 CA CALCTD

BOD, 5-DAY PERCENT
REMOVAL

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT **** **** **** 99.1 **** ****  % 0 01/30 CA CALCTD

81010  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

**** ****
****

>85
MINIMUM

**** ****
 %  01/30 CA CALCTD

SOLIDS, SLUDGE, TOT,
DRY WEIGHT

SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT 57 ****  dry ton **** **** **** **** 0 01/30 CA CALCTD

78477  1  0  0
EFFLUENT GROSS VALUE

PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

Req Mon
MO AVG

****
 dry ton

**** **** ****
****  01/30 CA CALCTD

 SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT           

 PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

  
 

   
    

 SAMPLE
MEASUREMENT           

 PERMIT
REQUIREMENT

  
 

   
    



November 2022 Permit Data

Daily Data
Daily

11/1/2022 - 11/30/2022

Pooler
Pooler RainFall
Precip In/Day
Inches/Day

Pooler
Effluent

Flow Mgd
MGD

Pooler
ReUse

Flow Mgd
MGD

Pooler
ReUse

Turbidity NTU
NTU

Pooler
Influent
Bod 5
MG/L

Pooler
Influent

Solids TSS
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent
Bod 5
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

Solids TSS
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

Fecal Coliform
#/100ML

11/1/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 2.580 1.00
11/2/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.606 231.00 220.00 2.00 1.00
11/3/2022 - Thursday 0.00 2.639 223.00 189.00 2.00 1.00 1.00
11/4/2022 - Friday 0.00 2.721 257.00 187.00 2.00 1.00
11/5/2022 - Saturday 0.00 2.845
11/6/2022 - Sunday 0.00 3.081
11/7/2022 - Monday 0.40 2.801 1.00
11/8/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 2.721
11/9/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.821 216.00 190.00 2.00 1.00
11/10/2022 - Thursday 0.00 2.871 215.00 190.00 2.00 1.00 1.00
11/11/2022 - Friday 1.75 3.075 213.00 192.00 2.00 1.00
11/12/2022 - Saturday 0.16 3.163
11/13/2022 - Sunday 0.00 2.868
11/14/2022 - Monday 0.00 2.882 2.67
11/15/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 2.878 186.00 172.00 2.00 1.00 3.67
11/16/2022 - Wednesday 0.09 2.586 206.00 210.00 2.00 1.00
11/17/2022 - Thursday 0.00 2.998 196.00 195.00 2.00 1.00
11/18/2022 - Friday 0.00 2.911
11/19/2022 - Saturday 0.00 3.064
11/20/2022 - Sunday 0.00 2.968
11/21/2022 - Monday 0.04 3.036 2.50
11/22/2022 - Tuesday 0.02 2.691 1.50
11/23/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.767 237.00 178.00 2.00 1.00
11/24/2022 - Thursday 0.04 2.818 218.00 178.00 2.00 1.00
11/25/2022 - Friday 0.09 2.446 343.00 180.00 2.00 1.00
11/26/2022 - Saturday 0.04 2.822
11/27/2022 - Sunday 0.06 2.617
11/28/2022 - Monday 0.18 3.010
11/29/2022 - Tuesday 0.00 2.720 2.00
11/30/2022 - Wednesday 0.00 2.534 246.00 227.00 2.00 1.00
Sum 2.87 84.540 2987.00 2508.00 26.00 13.00 16.30
Avg 0.10 2.818 230.00 192.90 2.00 1.00 1.60
Max 1.75 3.163 343.00 227.00 2.00 1.00 3.70
Min 0.00 2.446 186.00 172.00 2.00 1.00 1.00
GMean 1.60



November 2022 Permit Data

Pooler
Effluent
Nh3 N 

Ammonia
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

Phosphorus
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

Nitrate + Nitrite
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

TKN
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

Org Nitrogen
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent
Ortho 

Phosphorus
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent
Cyanide

UG/L

Pooler
Effluent
Mercury
1631E
NG/L

Pooler
Effluent

Diss Oxygen
MG/L

Pooler
Effluent

pH
SU

Pooler
Solids 

Removed
Dry TON

7.90 6.94 6.40
0.08 0.18 8.19 6.86 0.00
0.15 0.23 8.17 6.87 4.20
0.25 0.27 8.31 6.94 0.00

8.22 6.87 0.00
7.95 6.81 0.00
8.18 6.89 4.20
8.25 6.77 2.00

0.74 0.14 8.42 6.81 2.20
0.10 0.12 3.60 7.60 8.40 6.81 2.10
0.06 0.14 8.05 6.88 0.00

8.09 6.96 0.00
8.24 7.11 0.00
8.37 7.07 4.00

0.11 0.26 12.70 3.65 3.54 0.24 8.51 6.82 4.20
0.18 0.30 8.24 7.06 2.10
0.40 0.28 8.56 6.69 2.10

8.68 6.41 2.10
8.69 6.68 0.00
8.66 6.67 0.00
8.23 6.94 3.80
8.34 6.98 4.10

1.58 0.12 8.06 6.93 4.00
0.08 0.21 8.28 6.97 0.00
0.09 0.86 8.11 6.81 0.00

8.43 7.01 0.00
7.99 7.03 0.00
7.87 6.99 4.00
8.56 6.94 2.00

0.09 0.50 8.32 6.76 3.60
3.91 3.58 12.70 3.65 3.54 0.24 3.60 7.60 248.27 206.28 57.00
0.30 0.28 12.70 3.65 3.54 0.24 3.60 7.60 8.28 6.88 2.00
1.58 0.86 12.70 3.65 3.54 0.24 3.60 7.60 8.69 7.11 6.00
0.06 0.12 12.70 3.65 3.54 0.24 3.60 7.60 7.87 6.41 0.00



 

 

INTERIM 

COMPARATIVE 

OPERATING 

STATEMENTS 

 
 

City of Pooler, Georgia 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: 

Finance Department 



 

 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Interim Comparative Operating Statements (Unaudited) 

Table of Contents 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 

 

PAGE

COMPARATIVE OPERATING STATEMENTS

General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.................................................. 1

Tree Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances........................................................ 2

Forfeiture Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.............................................. 3

ARP Local Fiscal Recovery Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.................. 4

Accommodation Excise Tax Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances................ 5

Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,

and Changes in Fund Balances........................................................................................................................................ 6

Water and Sewer Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position............................................ 7



 

 

 



 

     

COMPARATIVE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

(UNAUDITED)



 

     



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

General Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

1 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Taxes...................................................................... 24,791,587.43$  21,603,967.74$ 

Licenses and permits............................................. 1,880,997.55      1,360,347.50     

Intergovernmental................................................. 719,007.71         446,722.36        

Charges for services............................................... 3,325,342.44      2,749,857.81     

Fines and forfeitures.............................................. 751,475.02         878,081.79        

Investment earnings.............................................. 159,828.18         10,655.01          

Contributions and donations.................................. 208,460.42         1,667,029.66     

Miscellaneous........................................................ 106,102.94         92,033.68          

Total revenues............................................................ 31,942,801.69    28,808,695.55    3,134,106.14      10.88%

EXPENDITURES

Current

General government.......................................... 3,713,279.84      3,445,351.71     

Judicial................................................................ 407,917.29         413,964.53        

Public safety....................................................... 16,729,905.23    13,621,399.52   

Public works........................................................ 7,572,877.71      5,816,710.66     

Health and welfare............................................. 165,979.85         134,361.79        

Culture and recreation....................................... 1,964,400.79      1,691,318.44     

Housing and development................................. 904,917.38         866,285.06        

Debt service

Principal.............................................................. 422,988.70         300,115.69        

Interest............................................................... 60,868.65           31,481.92          

Total expenditures..................................................... 31,943,135.44    26,320,989.32    5,622,146.12      21.36%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures...................................... (333.75)               2,487,706.23     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in............................................................ 1,216,055.21      960,825.44        

Transfers out.......................................................... ‐                      (437,851.85)       

Capital lease........................................................... 2,762,588.82      ‐                     

Sale of general capital assets................................ 143,365.66         139,097.50        

Insurance recoveries.............................................. 89,717.13           18,449.20          

Total other financing sources (uses) 4,211,726.82      680,520.29         3,531,206.53      518.90%

Net changes in fund balances.................................... 4,211,393.07      3,168,226.52     

Fund balances at beginning of year........................... 27,820,097.95    23,942,856.39   

Fund balances at end of year..................................... 32,031,491.02$  27,111,082.91$ 



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Tree Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

2 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Contributions.......................................................... 821,725.00$       1,734,750.00$   

Investment earnings.............................................. 2,121.93             414.99               

Total revenues........................................................ 823,846.93         1,735,164.99      (911,318.06)        ‐52.52%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Parks................................................................... 267,126.10         141,342.20        

Total expenditures................................................. 267,126.10         141,342.20         125,783.90         88.99%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 556,720.83         1,593,822.79     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in............................................................ ‐                      437,851.85         (437,851.85)       

Total other financing sources (uses) ‐                      437,851.85        

Net change in fund balance....................................... 556,720.83         2,031,674.64     

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 2,026,513.14      ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 2,583,233.97$    2,031,674.64$   



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Forfeiture Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

3 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Fines and forfeitures.............................................. 19,602.82$         72,704.07$        

Investment earnings.............................................. 176.06                63.69                 

Total revenues........................................................ 19,778.88           72,767.76           (52,988.88)          ‐72.82%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Public safety....................................................... 12,966.10           31,230.90          

Total expenditures................................................. 12,966.10           31,230.90           (18,264.80)          ‐58.48%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 6,812.78             41,536.86          

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 109,758.62         72,146.73          

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 116,571.40$       113,683.59$      



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

American Rescue Plan Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

4 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Intergovernmental grants...................................... ‐$                    ‐$                   

Investment earnings.............................................. 6,542.85             1,132.84            

Total revenues........................................................ 6,542.85             1,132.84             5,410.01             477.56%

EXPENDITURES

Current

Health and welfare............................................. ‐                      ‐                     

Total expenditures................................................. ‐                      ‐                      ‐                     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 6,542.85             1,132.84            

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ 1,132.84             ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... 7,675.69$           1,132.84$          



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Accommodation Excise Tax Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

5 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Taxes...................................................................... 2,432,110.42$    1,921,650.80$   

Total revenues........................................................ 2,432,110.42      1,921,650.80      510,459.62         26.56%

EXPENDITURES

Intergovernmental:

Assistance.......................................................... 1,216,055.21      960,825.42        

Total expenditures................................................. 1,216,055.21      960,825.42         255,229.79         26.56%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures.................................. 1,216,055.21      960,825.38        

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out.......................................................... (1,216,055.21)     (960,825.38)        (255,229.83)        26.56%

Total other financing sources (uses) (1,216,055.21)     (960,825.38)       

Net change in fund balance....................................... ‐                      ‐                     

Fund balance, beginning of year................................ ‐                      ‐                     

Fund balance, end of year.......................................... ‐$                    ‐$                   



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax (SPLOST) Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

6 
 

2022 2021

REVENUES

Intergovernmental........................................ 6,066,275.40$    5,055,634.89$   

Investment earnings..................................... 29,483.94           1,884.66            

Total revenues.............................................. 6,095,759.34      5,057,519.55      1,038,239.79      20.53%

EXPENDITURES

Capital outlay

Public safety.............................................. 1,083,360.30      453,410.20        

Public works.............................................. 932,748.90         2,359,177.72     

Recreation................................................. 563,883.80         30,227.50          

Debt service

Principal.................................................... 1,190,000.00      1,160,000.00     

Interest...................................................... 309,278.66         339,526.78        

Total expenditures........................................ 4,079,271.66      4,342,342.20      (263,070.54)        ‐6.06%

Excess (deficiency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures........................ 2,016,487.68      715,177.35        

Fund balance, beginning of year...................... 4,420,409.33      2,949,988.45     

Fund balance, end of year................................ 6,436,897.01$    3,665,165.80$   



CITY OF POOLER, GEORGIA 

Water and Sewer Fund 
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 

7 
 

2022 2021

OPERATING REVENUES

Water fees............................................................. 4,345,320.38$    4,053,347.78$   

Sewer fees.............................................................. 5,522,048.63      5,198,452.62     

Miscellaneous fees................................................ 137,848.76         113,643.63        

Total operating revenues........................................... 10,005,217.77    9,365,444.03      639,773.74         6.83%

OPERATING EXPENSES

Sewer and Wastewater Treatment Plant

Purchased and contracted services.................... 2,234,924.16      1,315,864.71     

Materials and supplies....................................... 1,800,568.04      1,615,140.41     

Total sewer and wastewater treatment plant....... 4,035,492.20      2,931,005.12      1,104,487.08      37.68%

Water

Personnel services and employee benefits....... 711,451.22         950,677.75        

Purchased and contracted services.................... 544,366.18         408,498.20        

Materials and supplies....................................... 2,237,191.10      1,779,787.63     

Total water............................................................. 3,493,008.50      3,138,963.58      354,044.92         11.28%

Total operating expenses........................................... 7,528,500.70      6,069,968.70      1,458,532.00      24.03%

Operating income (loss)............................................ 2,476,717.07      3,295,475.33      (818,758.26)        ‐24.84%

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest income...................................................... 115,553.88         15,346.60          

Insurance recoveries.............................................. ‐                      624,733.05        

Interest expense..................................................... (313,069.46)        (694,044.61)       

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses).................. (197,515.58)        (53,964.96)          (143,550.62)        266.01%

Income (loss) before capital contributions................ 2,279,201.49      3,241,510.37      (962,308.88)        ‐29.69%

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Tap fees.................................................................. 560,464.28         704,750.04        

Capital cost recovery charges................................ 7,291,337.76      2,443,898.32     

Total capital contributions......................................... 7,851,802.04      3,148,648.36      4,703,153.68      149.37%

Change in net position............................................... 10,131,003.53    6,390,158.73      3,740,844.80      58.54%

Net position, beginning of year................................. 54,822,228.61    50,093,307.21   

Net position, end of year........................................... 64,953,232.14$  56,483,465.94$ 
 



City of Pooler
Fire-Rescue Services

Fire-Rescue Report Dec. 1st – 31st, 2022

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Incident Total

EMS
Fires
MVC
Tech Rescue
Haz Con
Service Calls
Good Intent
False Alarm
Severe Weather
Special Incident

MAJOR INCIDENT TYPE # INCIDENTS 
Dec 2022

% Of TOTAL 
Dec 2022

YEAR End 
2022

YEAR End 
2021

Fires 13 2.58% 160 190
❖ Structure Fires 4 - 62 91

Emergency Medical Service 278 55.27% 3172 2947
Motor Vehicle Collisions 58 11.53% 580 664
Technical Rescues 9 1.79% 105 100
Hazardous Condition (No Fire) 16 3.18% 98 88
Service Call 71 14.12% 632 547
Good Intent Call 31 6.16% 403 539
False Alarm & False Call 26 5.17% 424 400
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster 0 0 13 9
Special Incident/Citizen Complaint 1 .20% 2 1

TOTAL 503 100% 5589 5420

December Call Volume Increased from 478 in 2021 to 503 in 2022, (5.23% increase)

For the year, call volume has increased by 169 calls or 3.12% over 2021 totals.



 

 
 Council Report  

Tuesday January 17, 2022 

December 2022   

 
• A total of 80 Part 1 crimes reported in the month of December. Bringing 

the total to 804 Part 1 crimes for year.   

• From prior year 2021, there is an increase of 1%. 

• A total of 35 shopliftings reported in the month of December. Bringing the 

total to 287 shopliftings for the year. 

• From prior year 2021, this is a decrease of 18%. 

• Total Calls for service in December were 2,729. Bringing the total number 

of calls for service for the year to 28,804. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 8%. 

• A total of 1,970 citations were issued in the month of December. Bringing 

the total for the year to 18,660. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 17% 

• A total of 155 arrest were made in the month of December. Bringing the 

total number arrest for the year to 1,614. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 2%. 

• A total of 28 DUI arrest were made in the month of December. Bringing the 

total number of DUI arrest for the year to 322. 

• From prior year 2021, this is an increase of 24%. 

 

Activity Time Period 
12/01-12/31/2022 

Year to Date 
2022 

Year to Date 
2021 

Percentage 
Change from 

21 - 22 

     

Part 1 crimes 80 804 796 1% 

Shopliftings 35 287 348 -18% 

Calls for service 2,729 28,804 26,789 8% 

Citation 1,970 18,660 15,922 17% 

Arrests 155 1,614 1,588 2% 

DUI arrests 28 322 259 24% 



1

2

3

4

5

6 Pooler Gaelic football club continued practicing at complex.

7

1

2

 

3

4

5

1

2

3

Senate run-off.

Seniors had the opportunity to participate in day trips to Statesboror and Hilton Head.

Celebrated with their annual Christmas party at the community center.

All regularly scheduled classes continued in December.

centers, and the cemetery.

Parks

Parks performed routine maintenance at all 5 parks, the community and senior

The gym was utilized by the Board of Elections as a voting precinct for the 

members, as well as the public.

Completed Christmas arts and crafts projects, and distributed to friends and family

Senior Center

The community center was rented each weekend in December.

The monthly TVIP class was held at the community center.

Pooler Parks & Recreation

Youth basketball practices began. 

Monthly Report: December 2022

Recreation Department

6u basketball games ended.

Fall gymnastics and dance classes, and tennis sessions ended.  

Fall baseball teams continued practicing at Pooler Park.













City of Pooler
Single Family Residential Permits

December 2022

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Contractor Owner PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
12/9/2022 221356 Westbrook 196 Wood Haven Ln., Lot 392 Michael Rogers Construction Mark and Sarah Stevenson 51009G01099 Yes/No
12/5/2022 221364 Forest Lakes 134 Como Dr., Lot 925 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C09026 Yes/No
12/14/2022 221432 Westwood Reserve 82 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 55 DR Horton Same 51010G02020
12/14/2022 221433 Westwood Reserve 80 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 56 DR Horton Same 51010G02021
12/14/2022 221434 Westwood Reserve 85 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 95 DR Horton Same 51010G04019
12/20/2022 221473 Westwood Reserve 78 Woodford Reserve Dr., Lot 57 DR Horton Same 51010G02022
12/20/2022 221474 Westwood Reserve 76 Woodford Reserve Dr.,Lot 58 DR Horton Same 51010G02023
12/14/2022 221477 Telfaif Park 101 Jepson Way Mungo Homes Same 51009S02011
12/19/2022 221480 Forest Lakes 108 Como Dr., Lot 903 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C09005 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221481 Forest Lakes 4 Superior Ln., Lot 905 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C09006 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221482 Forest Lakes 5 Superior Ln., Lot 912 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C09013 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221483 Forest Lakes 109 Como Dr., Lot 938 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51014C10005 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221484 Harmony 128 Melody Dr., Lot 607 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05079 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221485 Harmony 130 Melody Dr., Lot 608 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05080 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221488 Harmony 132 Melody Dr., Lot 609 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05081 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221489 Harmony 134 Melody Dr., Lot 610 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05082 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221490 Harmony 136 Melody Dr., Lot 611 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05083 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221491 Harmony 137 Melody Dr., Lot 614 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05086 Yes/No
12/19/2022 221492 Harmony 135 Melody Dr., Lot 615 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05087
12/19/2022 221493 Harmony 131 Melody Dr., Lot 617 Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same 51010F05089

Total 20



City of Pooler
Townhome Permits

December 2022

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Contractor Owner PIN #

Flood 
Zone/Flood 

Way
12/20/2022 221475 Westbrook 154 Holloway Hill, Lot 1098 DR Horton Same 51009R05123
12/21/2022 221476 Westbrook 156 Holloway Hill, Lot 1099 DR Horton Same 51009R05124
12/20/2022 221495 Benton Grove Townhomes 9 Pisa Pl., Lot 2A Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01005
12/20/2022 221496 Benton Grove Townhomes 11 Pisa Pl., Lot 2B Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01006
12/20/2022 221504 Benton Grove Townhomes 13 Pisa Pl., Lot 2C Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01007
12/20/2022 221505 Benton Grove Townhomes 1 Pisa Pl., Lot 1A Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01001
12/20/2022 221506 Benton Grove Townhomes 3 Pisa Pl., Lot 1B Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01002
12/20/2022 221507 Benton Grove Townhomes 5 Pisa Pl., Lot 1C Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01003
12/20/2022 221508 Benton Grove Townhomes 7 Pisa Pl., Lot 1D Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D01004
12/20/2022 221509 Benton Grove Townhomes 10 Pisa Pl., Lot 9A Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D04006
12/20/2022 221511 Benton Grove Townhomes 8 Pisa Pl., Lot 9B Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D04005
12/20/2022 221514 Benton Grove Townhomes 6 Pisa Pl., Lot 9C Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D04004
12/20/2022 221515 Benton Grove Townhomes 4 Pisa Pl., Lot 9D Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D04003
12/20/2022 221516 Benton Grove Townhomes 2 Pisa Pl., Lot 9E Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D04002
12/20/2022 221517 Benton Grove Townhomes 12 Amalfi Ave., Lot 31A Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D03056
12/20/2022 221518 Benton Grove Townhomes 10 Amalfi Ave., Lot 31B Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D03057
12/20/2022 221519 Benton Grove Townhomes 8 Amalfi Ave., Lot 31C Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D03058
12/20/2022 221520 Benton Grove Townhomes 6 Amalfi Ave., Lot 31D Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D03059
12/20/2022 221521 Benton Grove Townhomes 4 Amalfi Ave., Lot 31E Dream Finders Homes, LLC Same 50017D03060

 

Total 19





Misc. Permits December 2022
Date Permit # Address Contractor Owner Project Type PIN # Flood Zone
12/5/2022 221408 251 Morgan Lakes Industrial Blvd Champion Fire Protection MorganLakes Industrial XIV Fire Sprinkler System
12/9/2022 221417 1000 Pine Barren Rd. Ste 112 Bluffton Sign Company Barber's of the Lowcountry Wall Signs
12/9/2022 221420 133 Ventura Pl Pool Solutions Plus, Inc. Berkeley Walk Homeowners Commercial Pool 51009J08015
12/6/2022 221422 115 Grand Central Blvd. Goodwill Industries Same Shipping Container
12/2/2022 221423 100 Blue Moon Xing, Unit 105/106 Whitfield Signs Dogwood Pediatric Dentistry Wall Signs
12/6/2022 221424 1752 Old Dean Forest Rd. Dabbs Williams Hydradyne, LLC Deep Well 50924D01001
12/2/2022 221426 20 Traders Way Sta-Dry Roofing Realty Income Reroof 50017A01057
12/6/2022 221429 102 Park Ave. AAA Sign Co Inc Georgia Heritage Federal Credit Union 2 Wall Signs/1 Monument
12/8/2022 221441 424 Copper Creek Cir. Low Country Fencing Neng Khai 6' Shadowbox Fence
12/9/2022 221444 304 Moore Ave. Thompson and Thompson Amanda Arriaga Excavation 
12/9/2022 221445 128 Pine View Xing Dyess Air & Plumbing Ronald Hamilton Mechanical
12/9/2022 221446 322 Serengeti Blvd. Owens Contracting Kathrina Mills 6' Shadowbox Fence

12/14/2022 221447 1545 Dean Forest Rd. Doug Bean Signs, Inc. 1545 Dean Forest LLC Monument Sign
12/12/2022 221448 1554 E. Hwy 80 Inex Sign Service Inc. 1554 OLR LLC Wall Sign and Pylon Sign
12/12/2022 221449 125 Legends Rd. Freedom Forever Sammy Jackson Electrical
12/13/2022 221462 501 Memorial Blvd. The Sign Store Lewis Commercial Properties LLC 4 Freestanding/7 Wall Signs
12/15/2022 221463 66 Columbia Dr. Signs by James Preciball USA Inc Monument Sign
12/15/2022 221479 116 Greenhill Close Halleluyah Restoration Mary Lemanski Black Alumium Fence
12/21/2022 221498 134 Traders Way Clayton Construction Company Claycon Pooler, LLC Monument Sign
12/19/2022 221499 305 Benton Dr. Titanium Solar LLC Elizabeth Kangeter Electrical
12/19/2022 221500 157 Martello Rd. Titanium Solar LLC Gina Cabahug Electrical
12/19/2022 221501 210 Harmony Blvd. Vinyl Industries of Savannah Alex Cline Covered Patio 51010F04006
12/19/2022 221502 120 N. Morgan St Jessica Ferraro Same 6' Pirvacy Fence
12/21/2022 221525 134 Traders Way Clayton Construction Company Claycon Pooler, LLC Wall Sign

Total 24



City of Pooler
Mobile Home Permits

December 2022

Date Permit # Subdivision Address Mobile Home Installer Owner

Total 0



City of Pooler
Certificate of Occupancy

December 2022
Date Permit # Subdivision Address Type of Construction Contractor Owner

12/5/2022 220884 1000 Pine Barren Rd., Unit 109/110 Retail Buildout R Peacock Construction Melissa Hille
12/5/2022 210884 Westbrook 3 Moss Ln., Lot 685 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes, LLC Same
12/6/2022 220642 100 Blue Moon Xing. Unit 105 Dentist Office Buildout Martin Construciton Group Krista Hinchey
12/6/2022 220122 Ellis Park 103 Buttermere Way, Lot 334 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/8/2022 210657 Hunt Club Townhomes 182 Benelli Dr., Lot 559 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/8/2022 210656 Hunt Club Townhomes 184 Benelli Dr., Lot 558 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/8/2022 211370 Hunt Club Townhomes 167 Benelli Dr., Lot 554 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/9/2022 220517 Forest Lakes 105 Como Dr., Lot 940 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
12/9/2022 210394 Hunt Club 165 Benelli Dr., Lot 553 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/12/2022 211155 Hunt Club 353 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 642 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
12/12/2022 210022 Hunt Club 327 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 655 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
12/13/2022 220539 Clubhouse Residential 30 Gofl Dr., Loot 487 Townhome Logan Homes SC LLC Same
12/14/2022 220617 Ellis Park 118 Buttermere Way, Lot 332 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/14/2022 220582 Ellis Park 110 Buttermere Way, Lot 328 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/14/2022 220444 Hunt Club Townhomes 147 Congo Ct.,Lot 509 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/15/2022 210393 Hunt Club Townhomes 163 Benelli Dr., Lot 552 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/15/2022 220443 Hunt Club Townhomes 145 Congo Ct., Lot 508 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/15/2022 220445 Hunt Club Townhomes 146 Congo Ct., Lot 510 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/15/2022 210618 Hunt Club 347 Serengeti Blvd., Lot 645 Single Family Detached Beazer Homes Same
12/15/2022 220564 Westbrook Glen 139 Harvest Hill, Lot 804 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/15/2022 220466 Westbrook Glen 153 Harvest Hill, Lot 811 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/15/2022 210722 Westbrook 122 Puttenham Xing, Lot 15 Single Family Detached Transcend Custom Homes Karen Ganzkow
12/16/2022 210791 Westbrook 178 Wood Haven Ln., Lot 455 Single Family Detached Grant Homes Amber Corry
12/16/2022 220467 Westbrook Glen 167 Harvest Hill, Lot 818 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/16/2022 220468 Westbrook Glen 154 Harvest Hill, Lot 824 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/16/2022 220273 Ellis Park 105 Buttermere Way, Lot 335 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/16/2022 220474 Ellis Park 106 Buttermere Way, Lot 326 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/16/2022 220611 Forest Lakes 123 Como Dr., Lot 931 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
12/19/2022 220550 Clubhouse Residential 23 Palladian Way, Lot 95 Single Family Detached Logan Homes SC LLC Same
12/19/2022 220480 Westbrook Glen 147 Harvest Hill, Lot 808 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/19/2022 220465 Westbrook Glen 151 Harvest Hill, Lot 810 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/19/2022 210272 Westbrook Villas 139 Mallory Pl, Lot 167 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes, LLC Same
12/19/2022 210275 Westbrook Villas 149 Mallory Pl., Lot 172 Single Family Detached Village Park Homes, LLC Same
12/19/2022 220616 Ellis Park 116 Buttermere Way, Lot 331 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/20/2022 220568 Westbrook Glen 145 Harvest Hill, Lot 807 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/20/2022 220569 Westbrook Glen 155 Harvest Hill, Lot 812 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/21/2022 220609 Forest Lakes 7 Superior Ln., Lot 911 Single Family Detached Landmark 24 Homes of Savannah Same
12/22/2022 220002 Westbrook 105 Busbridge Cove, Lot 333 Single Family Detached Ricky Hearn Same
12/22/2022 220486 Westwood Reserve 26 Woodfordm Reserve Dr., Lot 76 Single Family Detached DR Horton Same
12/23/2022 220469 Westbrook Glen 152 Harvest Hill, Lot 825 Single Family Detached Pulte Home Company LLC Same
12/23/2022 220096 20 William Blakely Xing. Chatham Orthopedic Buildling BMC Construction Services Jack Hall
12/28/2022 210614 Hunt Club Townhomes 164 Benelli Dr., Lot 568 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/29/2022 210653 Hunt Club Townhomes 169 Benelli Dr., Lot 555 Townhome Beazer Homes Same



City of Pooler
Certificate of Occupancy

December 2022
Date Permit # Subdivision Address Type of Construction Contractor Owner

12/29/2022 210655 Hunt Club Townhomes 173 Benelli Dr., Lot 557 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/29/2022 210654 Hunt Club Townhomes 171 Benelli Dr., Lot 556 Townhome Beazer Homes Same
12/29/2022 210658 Hunt Club Townhomes 180 Benelli Dr., Lot 560 Townhome Beazer Homes Same

Total 46



Monthly Report
December 2022

INSPECTORS
Scott MacPherson 326 Inspections (Included in Salary)
Frank Garza 479 Inspections (Included in Salary)

Total Inspections: 805 Inspections





Resolution R2023-01.A

}   STATE OF GEORGIA 

}   COUNTY OF CHATHAM

RESOLUTION TO FIX AND PUBLISH MUNICIPAL ELECTION QUALIFYING PERIOD AND FEES 
FOR THE CITY OF POOLER, GA 2023 MUNICIPAL ELECTION

BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of Pooler, Georgia, while in 
regular session on January 17, 2023, as follows:

WHEREAS, effective January 1, 1999, the Georgia Municipal and Georgia Election Codes 
were combined into one code known as the Georgia Election Code; and

WHEREAS, such Code provides at O.C.G.A. § 21-2-131(a)(1) that qualifying fees shall be 
fixed and published not later than February 1st of any year in which a general election is to be 
held; and

WHEREAS, State Law provides that such fees shall be three percent (3%) of the total gross 
salary of the office paid in the preceding year, if a salaried office; and

WHEREAS, Internal Revenue Service Code section 3401(c) indicates that an elected official 
of government is an employee for income tax withholding purposes. Therefore, holders of public 
office are not subject to self-employment tax; and

WHEREAS, in compliance with Article II, Section 2 of the City’s Code of Ordinances, the City 
of Pooler will hold elections for Mayor (1) and Councilmembers (6, At-Large) in 2023; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of Pooler, Georgia, 
pursuant to its authority, do hereby adopt by Resolution as follows:

The following Qualifying Fees shall apply to candidates seeking municipal office in the election to 
be held on Tuesday, November 7, 2023:

Municipal Office Annual Salary Qualifying Fee 
(3%)

Mayor, City of Pooler (1)   $14,400   $432.00

At-Large Councilmember, City of Pooler (6) $7,200 $216.00

The approved Qualifying Fees shall be published in the City’s legal organ following the adoption of 
this Resolution. The Qualifying Period for the offices listed above shall be in the Office of the City 
Clerk, Pooler City Hall, 100 US Highway 80 SW, Pooler, GA 31322 from Monday, August 21, 2023 
through Friday, August 25, 2023 from 8:30 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. 

The City Clerk shall be authorized to contract with the Chatham County Board of Elections and 



Resolution R2023-01.A

Board of Registrars to conduct the election and shall transmit a copy of this resolution upon 
approval.

RESOLVED this the 17th day of January, 2023.

Rebecca C. Benton, Mayor
City of Pooler, Georgia

ATTEST:

Kiley Fusco City Clerk
City of Pooler, Georgia





































































































































































































































































1 
 

UNDERGROUND FACILITIES LOCATING AND MARKING 
SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 
 THIS UNDERGROUND FACILITIES LOCATING AND MARKING SERVICE 
AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is entered into as of the _____ day of ________, 2022 (the 
"Effective Date"), aXXXX (“Customer”). 

BACKGROUND 
A. Customer owns, controls and operates underground facilities in the geographic area 
described on Exhibit A to this Agreement (“Contract Service Area”). 
B.  Customer desires to have Benchmark provide the necessary labor and equipment to 
provide certain services relative to locating and marking Customer’s underground facilities in the 
Contract Service Area. 
 

AGREEMENT 
 Based on the Background set forth above and in consideration of the mutual covenants, 
terms and conditions set forth below, Benchmark and Customer agree as follows: 
1. Definitions.  In addition to the terms defined above the following capitalized terms when 

used in this Agreement shall have the following meanings: 
1.1 “After Hours Call Out” means locate requests made on Benchmark-observed 

holidays (Memorial Day, Independence Day/July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving, 
Christmas, and New Year’s Day), weekends, and weekdays from 5 p.m. to 7 
a.m., or any time outside of the applicable State One Call’s regular business 
hours.  

1.2 “APWA” means the American Public Works Association and its Underground 
Utility Location and Coordination Council.  

1.3 “At Fault Damages” means Damage to Customer’s Facilities caused by an 
Excavator that occurs with respect to Locatable Facilities where Benchmark did 
not perform the Locate with Reasonable Accuracy. 

1.4 “Contract Year” means the 365 (366 if period includes February during a leap 
year) days beginning with the Effective Date and the anniversary date each year 
thereafter.  

1.5 “Customer’s Facilities” means any Underground Facilities owned, leased, or 
controlled by Customer. 

1.6 “Customer Documents” mean the plans, prints, drawings, maps, as-builts, 
records, and other ancillary documentation and information provided by the 



2 
 

Customer to Benchmark in connection with Locate Services for the Customer 
Facilities. 

1.7 “Damage to Customer’s Facilities” means the penetration or destruction of any 
protective coating, sheath, housing or other protective facility of underground 
plant, the partial or complete severance of underground plant, or the rendering 
of any underground plant partially or completely inoperable. 

1.8 “Excavator” means any person or entity which engages in excavation or 
demolition.  

1.9 “High Profile Facilities” means fiber cable 432 pair or larger. 
1.10 “Interruption of Service” means an interruption in the services provided by 

Customer to its customers arising from a Damage to Customer’s Facilities.  
1.11 “Locatable Facilities” means Customer’s Facilities that can be field marked with 

Reasonable Accuracy by using equipment designed to respond to the presence 
of Customer’s Facilities, together with Customer Documents of sufficient 
accuracy, but shall specifically not include Unidentifiable Facilities and 
Unlocatable Facilities. 

1.12 “Locate” means the completed process of having provided Locate Services at an 
excavation site or another location as required or requested by Customer on a 
ticket initiated through the State One Call. 

1.13 “Locate Service” means the process of determining the presence or absence of 
Customer’s Facilities, their conflict with proposed excavations or demolition, and 
the Marking of the proper places or routes of Customer’s Facilities within 
Reasonable Accuracy limits as required. 

1.14 “Low Profile Facilities” means any of Customer’s Facilities that are not High 
Profile Facilities. 

1.15 Marking means the use of stakes and flags, paint strips or other clearly 
identifiable materials at appropriately distanced intervals and at each divergence 
from a straight line in accordance with the current marking standards of the 
APWA to show the field location of Underground Facilities accurately.  

1.16 “Paintable Locate” means that Customer has buried facilities within the area of 
the locate request or scope of the ticket.   

1.17 “Project Locate” means a Locate that requires Benchmark to spend more than 
one (1) hour at the excavation site.  

1.18 “Reasonable Accuracy” means the placement of appropriate Markings within 
twenty-four (24) inches of the outside dimensions of both sides of an 
Underground Facility. 



3 
 

1.19 “Restoration Costs” means the actual costs incurred by Customer to repair 
Damage to Customer’s Facilities arising from At Fault Damages.  Restoration 
Costs is equal to only the actual labor, equipment and material costs incurred by 
Customer to repair the Damage to Customer’s Facilities. Restoration Costs 
specifically exclude overhead charges, costs arising from betterment of plant 
(which shall include, among other things, any upgrade, improvement, 
reinforcement, enlargement or extension of Customer’s Facilities). 

1.20 “Services” mean the services to be provided by Benchmark under this 
Agreement. 

1.21 “Site Visit” means to visit the site of the locate request where no Locatable 
Facilities are present.  

1.22 “Site Surveillance” means to watch over and protect Customer’s Facilities at 
Customer's request or during unusual or extensive excavation projects (i.e. road 
widening projects, sewer projects, etc.) and providing such continuous on-site 
Locate Services as may be dictated by the nature and scope of the excavations. 
Commonly referred to as a “Watchdog” within the industry. 

1.23 “State One Call” means the one call system (including the Miss Utility – 811) or 
as directed by the Company. 

1.24 “Third Party Claims” means any claims for losses, fines, penalties, damages or 
expenses made by a person not a party to this Agreement arising from Damages 
to Customer’s Facilities, including, claims as a result of (a) injury to or death of 
any third party person and (b) damage to or loss or destruction of any third party 
property, but excludes any claims and damages for Interruption of Service, loss 
of revenue, profit, business interruption or opportunity, or goodwill. 

1.25 “Ticket” means the document generated at the State One Call center and 
transmitted to Benchmark, containing each locate request which Customer is 
contractually obligated to mark. 

1.26 “Underground Facilities” means any item buried or placed below the ground for 
use in connection with the storage, transmission or conveyance of water, 
sewage, electronic telephonic or telegraphic and other forms of communications, 
cablevision, electric energy, petroleum products, gas, gaseous vapors, 
hazardous liquids or other substance including, but not limited to, pipes, sewers, 
conduits, cables, valves, lines, wires, hand holes, manholes, attachments and 
those parts of poles or anchors below ground. 



4 
 

1.27 “Unidentifiable Facilities” means Customer’s Facilities that, after a reasonable 
review and inspection, are neither apparent on the Customer Documents 
provided by Customer or from a Visual Examination. 

1.28 “Unlocatable Facilities” means Customer’s Facilities whose presence is known 
either from Documents provided by Customer or a Visual Examination, but which 
cannot be field marked with Reasonable Accuracy using standard industry 
acceptable procedures. 

1.29 “Visual Examination” means a reasonable attempt to determine the existence of 
Customer’s Facilities at an excavation or demolition site by a reasonable visual 
inspection of all surrounding facts at such site rather than solely from Customer 
Provided Documents. 

2. Responsibilities of Benchmark. 
2.1 Benchmark shall furnish all labor, materials and equipment to perform Locate 

Services for Customer within the Contract Service Area except for the Customer 
Documents to be provided by Customer under Section 3.1.  Benchmark will 
receive Ticket transmittals directly from the State One Call center for the Contract 
Service Area at no additional cost to Customer. 

2.2 Benchmark shall make best efforts to complete the Services within the time 
requirements imposed by state law. If Benchmark fails to comply with timely 
providing the Services, or contacting the excavator directly and communicating 
a mutually agreeable alternate timeline for completion (including without 
limitation no shows, coded differently than marked, or cleared prematurely), then 
Customer may outline dispute of payment on such tickets in writing to 
Benchmark for discussion and resolution in accordance with Section 11.1. 
Benchmark shall provide Customer with access to all tickets related to the 
Services in order to perform quality control and to resolve any inquiries or 
complaints. 

2.3 Upon receipt of a request for a Locate, Benchmark will assess whether a field 
visit to the excavation site and a Visual Examination is required to determine if a 
conflict exists between the Customer’s Facilities and the proposed excavation.  
If Benchmark determines that no field visit or Visual Examination is necessary, 
Benchmark will proceed under section 2.4 below. 

2.4 If Benchmark determines that Customer’s Facilities are not present at the 
excavation site, Benchmark will either (a) notify Excavator prior to the proposed 
excavation that Customer’s Facilities are not present or (b) mark the excavation 
site in a manner to indicate that Customer’s Facilities are not present at the 



5 
 

proposed excavation site AND (c) provide positive response to the State One 
Call that Customer’s facilities are not in conflict. 

2.5 Customer agrees that Benchmark will have the right to screen tickets via 
Customer Documents.  If Benchmark is aware of any incorrect information on 
the prints, then Benchmark will promptly notify the Customer in writing to advise 
of the same and request updated prints to perform the Services.  Customer also 
agrees that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this 
Agreement, Benchmark will not be liable for any damages that occur because of 
incorrect prints. 

2.6 If Benchmark determines that there are Unlocatable Facilities at the excavation 
site, it will notify Customer promptly in writing (email will suffice) and Customer 
will determine and communicate to Benchmark a course of action to ensure the 
Unlocatable Facilities are identified, located, and not damaged by Excavator, 
including without limitation, requiring Benchmark to Locate Unlocatable Facilities 
that become Locatable Facilities. Benchmark shall not be liable for damages to 
Unlocatable Facilities properly communicated to Customer. 

2.7 Any Customer Documents furnished by Customer pursuant to section 3.1 shall 
remain the property of Customer.  Benchmark agrees to return all copies of such 
Customer Documents to Customer upon Customer’s written request or at the 
termination of this Agreement.  Benchmark agrees to keep any such Customer 
Documents confidential and shall use such Customer Documents only in the 
performance of this Agreement except upon such terms as may be agreed upon 
by Customer or as required by law.  This obligation of confidentially shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 

2.8 Subject to the terms of section 3.2 below, Benchmark shall perform the Services 
as an independent contractor and as such it has the right to exercise control and 
supervision of the work and full control over the employment, direction, 
compensation and discharge of all persons assisting it in performing the 
Services; provided such control is in full compliance with this Agreement. 
Benchmark shall be solely responsible for the payment of its employees and for 
the payment of all federal, state, county and municipal taxes and contributions 
pertaining thereto; and Benchmark shall be responsible for its own acts and the 
acts of its subcontractors or authorized agents performing any part of the 
Services. 



6 
 

2.9 Benchmark shall not subcontract the Services or any part of the Services without 
the prior written approval of Customer, which approval Customer may choose to 
withhold in its sole discretion. 

2.10 Benchmark shall comply with the provisions of all applicable permits, licenses, 
certifications and insurance relative to the Services to be performed hereunder. 
Benchmark shall comply with all applicable laws, ordinances, court or 
administrative orders, rules, and regulations of the United States, the State or 
States where the Services are performed, and any unit of local government with 
jurisdiction, applicable to the Services (including, but not limited to Worker’s 
Compensation, Unemployment Insurance and Social Security). 

2.11 Benchmark represents and warrants to the Customer that (a) it is duly organized, 
validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization 
and is authorized to do business in the Service Area and (b) it has all requisite 
power and authority to enter into and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

2.12 Benchmark agrees in performing Services hereunder, it will comply with all 
applicable federal and state statutes and regulations and local ordinances, 
orders and other legal requirements, and all rules and regulations of any right-
of-way owner, including but not limited to the specifications, environment, health 
and/or safety (collectively “Requirements”), including but not limited to 
Requirements arising under: the Occupational Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”), 
29 U.S.C. §651 et seq. 

2.13 At all times while Benchmark is on the right-of-way of any owner’s premises, 
Benchmark shall be responsible for providing a safe working environment in 
relation to its Services. Accidents, injuries, and illnesses requiring medical 
attention other than first aid damage or damage to property of Customer, any 
right-of-way owner, and Benchmark, shall be reported to Customer at the time of 
the incident. 

3. Responsibilities of Customer. 
3.1 Customer agrees to provide Benchmark with the necessary Customer 

Documents to permit Benchmark to provide the Locate Services.  Customer 
acknowledges that it is Customer’s responsibility to keep all applicable Customer 
Documents up to date with accurate information.  Benchmark bears no liability 
for Customer’s failure to provide accurate Customer Documents, or any damage 
which results from inaccurate Customer Documents.  



7 
 

3.2 Each Party agrees that it will reasonably cooperate with the other Party so that 
each Party enjoys the same protection under the laws applicable to the other 
Party regarding Third Party Claims as the other Party would enjoy if it were 
performing the Services. 

3.3 Customer will pay Benchmark for the Locate Services in accordance with the 
charges set forth on Exhibit A. will not be responsible for the accuracy, updates 
to or the completeness of the definition of the Customer's service area that 
Customer has provided to the State One Call center. 

3.4 Customer agrees to make storage space available for paint and flags.  Customer 
will also make office space available for the Benchmark supervisor as needed. 

4. Term, Termination and Exclusive Nature of Agreement 
4.1 This Agreement shall be effective as of the Effective Date, and continue for a 

period of one (1) year, with automatic renewal for consecutive periods of one (1) 
year on each expiration date thereafter, unless sooner terminated pursuant to 
section 4.3 or section 4.4 below. 

4.2 Customer shall use Benchmark as its exclusive provider of Locate Services 
within the Contract Service Area until this Agreement is terminated as provided 
herein. 

4.3 Termination for Convenience. Either Party to this Agreement shall have the right 
to terminate this Agreement for its convenience upon thirty (30) days prior written 
notice to the other. Upon such termination the only liability will be that of the 
Customer for any Services performed by Benchmark prior to the effective date 
of termination. 

4.4 Termination for Default.  Either party shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement for a default under this Agreement that is not cured within ten (10) 
days following written notice from the non-defaulting party to the defaulting party. 

5. Investigations of Damage to Customer’s Facilities 
5.1 Should either party to this Agreement become aware of any Damage to 

Customer’s Facilities that occurs after Benchmark has been asked to perform a 
Locate with respect to the Customer’s Facilities, the party having knowledge of 
the Damage to Customer’s Facilities shall promptly notify the other party.  This 
notification may be made orally and followed up in writing (email will suffice). 
Both parties to this Agreement reserve the right and shall be entitled to 
investigate any reports of Damage to Customer’s Facilities. 

5.2 Benchmark will investigate incidents of Damage to Customer’s Facilities and 
provide a written report of its findings to Customer. Such report will contain 



8 
 

Benchmark’s determination as to whether the Damage to Customer’s Facilities 
constitutes At Fault Damages.  If Customer disputes Benchmark’s conclusion, 
the parties will seek to mutually resolve such dispute and if they cannot such 
dispute will be resolved in accordance with section 11.1. 

5.3 Customer agrees that should it fail to notify Benchmark as provided in section 
5.1 of any Damage to Customer’s Facilities within forty-eight (48) hours after 
Customer receives notice of the damage and Benchmark has no knowledge or 
information of the damage within that period, then Benchmark shall not be liable 
to Customer for Restoration Costs arising from that Damage to Customers’ 
Facilities and Customer shall indemnify Benchmark against Third Party Claims 
in accordance with section 7.1, even if it is later determined that such damage 
constitutes At Fault Damages.  

6. Limitation of Liability and Indemnification of Customer by Benchmark 
6.1 Benchmark will be responsible for paying Customer’s Restoration Costs only if: 

a) Benchmark receives a request to provide Locate Services with respect to 
Customer’s Facilities, and b) the Damage to Customer’s Facilities constitutes an 
At Fault Damage. Benchmark shall be assessed a penalty fee not to exceed 
$2,500.00 per incident to offset the costs incurred by Customer or its insurer for 
loss or damage claims resulting from unmarked or incorrectly marked facilities. 
If the Damage to Customer’s Facilities is not At Fault Damages or if Customer’s 
Facilities are Unidentifiable Facilities or Unlocatable Facilities after Benchmark 
makes best efforts to give Customer notice of Unlocatable Facilities as required 
hereunder to cause such Facilities to become Locatable Facilities, Benchmark’s 
only responsibility will be to provide whatever support to Customer it can 
reasonably provide to establish whether the Excavator or another third party is 
liable for such Damage to Customer’s Facilities. Benchmark shall indemnify and 
hold harmless Customer, its agents, employees, officers, directors and 
shareholders (“Customer Indemnities”) from and against any and all Third Party 
Claims to the extent the same arise from At Fault Damages; provided, however, 
Benchmark shall not indemnify Customer Indemnities for Third Party Claims 
arising from Damages that are not At Fault Damages or damages to 
Unidentifiable Facilities or Unlocatable Facilities or for Third Party Claims that 
arise from the negligence or willful misconduct of Customer, its agents or 
employees. 



9 
 

6.2 If Benchmark commits negligence in performing or not performing Services 
hereunder, then Benchmark, whether directly or through its insurer, shall be 
liable for its share of damages proportional to Benchmark’s share of fault. 

7. Indemnification of Benchmark by Customer 
7.1 Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Benchmark, its agents, employees, 

officers, directors and shareholders (“Benchmark Indemnities”) from and against 
any and all Third Party Claims to the extent the same arise from Damage to 
Customer Facilities if the Customer’s Facilities were either Unidentifiable 
Facilities or Unlocatable Facilities or if the Third Party Claims arose from the 
negligence or willful misconduct of Customer, its agents or employees (excluding 
Benchmark as a contractor hereunder). 

8. Price Revisions 
8.1 Benchmark may adjust the prices for Locate Services set forth on Exhibit B upon 

each annual anniversary year following the Effective Date by providing Customer 
with at least sixty (60) days’ advance written notice to Customer prior to the end 
of the existing term or a renewal term (as applicable), provided that Benchmark 
provides Customer evidence that such price increase results from either (a) an 
increase in Benchmark costs for providing the Services that exceeds the average 
rate of inflation for the period since Benchmark’s most recent price increase or 
(b) a material change in the State One Call statute effective within the Contract 
Service Area; Unless Customer contests, in writing within the thirty (30) day 
notice period, the evidence provided by Benchmark and the price increase will 
become effective on the date identified in Benchmark’s notice.  If Customer 
contests the basis for the price increase as provided above, the parties shall 
either negotiate a mutually agreeable resolution or resolve the dispute as 
provided in section 11.1. The charges for Locate Services set forth on Exhibit B 
shall not increase more than 2% unless otherwise provided herein.  In addition, 
Benchmark may request Customer to add one (1) additional staff member under 
this Agreement for the Locate Services if the gross ticket count as of the Effective 
Date (3,289 per month as of May 2019) increases twenty-five percent (25%) or 
more per year and the parties will work in good faith to negotiate an amendment 
to include such additional personnel to cover the increase in Locate Services. 

9. Equal Employment 
9.1 Benchmark acknowledges that it is an equal opportunity employer. Benchmark 

is committed to ensuring equal employment opportunities for all applicants and 
employees, and to further our commitment not to discriminate on the basis of 



10 
 

sex, race, religion, color, national origin, age, disability, genetic information, or 
veteran status, or any other basis protected by federal, state or local law 
(“Protected Classifications”).  

10. Insurance 
10.1 Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, Benchmark shall obtain 

and maintain insurance against its contractual liability created under this 
Agreement, from an insurer and to the complete satisfaction of the Customer, 
which shall be no less than the following insurance coverages and for the benefit 
of the Customer: 

 
 INSURANCE COVERAGE:   LIMITS: 
 
 Worker’s Compensation   Statutory Limit 
  

Employers' Liability  
Each Accident    $500,000 

  Disease, Policy Limit   $500,000  
  Disease, Each Employee  $500,000 
  

Comprehensive General Liability    
     including Contractual Liability  $1,000,000 Each Occurrence 
 Occurrence Basis BI & PD     $1,000,000 Each Occurrence 
 
 Personal Injury    $1,000,000 Each Occurrence 

 Products & Completed Operations  $1,000,000 Each Occurrence 
  

  Automobile Liability     
  BI & PD Combined   $1,000,000 Each Occurrence 
   
 Errors and Omissions    $500,000 Each Occurrence 
 

Umbrella Liability    $3,000,000 Each Occurrence 
 

10.2 Prior to performing any Services under this Agreement, Benchmark shall provide 
Customer with a certificate of insurance naming the Customer as additional 
insured. Such insurance coverages shall be written so that it shall not lapse or 
terminate without at least thirty (30) days written notice to the Customer. 

 
11. Dispute Resolution 

11.1 The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve all disputes (“Controversy”) 
promptly by negotiation, as follows.  Any party may give the other party written 
notice of any Controversy not resolved in the normal course of business.  
Executives of both parties at levels one level above the personnel who have 



11 
 

previously been involved in the Controversy shall meet at a mutually acceptable 
time and place within ten days after delivery of such notice, and thereafter as 
often as they reasonably deem necessary, to exchange relevant information and 
to attempt to resolve the Controversy.  If the matter has not been resolved within 
thirty days from the referral of the Controversy to senior executives, or if no 
meeting of senior executives has taken place within fifteen days after such 
referral, the parties hereto shall simply reserve to themselves the right to litigate 
any such disputes in an appropriate forum within the Contract Service Area. 

12. Miscellaneous 
12.1 Neither party shall be deemed to be in default of this Agreement to the extent 

that any delay or failure to perform its obligations, other than the payment of 
money, results from any cause beyond its reasonable control and without its fault 
or negligence, such as acts of God, acts of civil or military authority, embargoes, 
epidemics, war, riots, insurrections, fires, explosions, earthquakes, floods, 
unusually severe weather conditions or strikes.  If Benchmark claims that it is 
delayed by such a cause, it shall notify Customer immediately and Customer 
shall be entitled to obtain the Services from any other person until such cause 
terminates as evidenced by a notice from Benchmark that such cause has 
ended.   

12.2 This Agreement may only be modified or amended by a written instrument signed 
by an authorized representative of Benchmark and Customer.  The term 
“Agreement” shall include any such future amendments or modifications. 

12.3 This Agreement shall constitute the entire contract between the parties with 
respect to the subject matter of this Agreement.  Customer and Benchmark each 
represent that it has read this Agreement, agrees to be bound by all terms and 
conditions contained in this Agreement, and acknowledge receipt of a signed, 
true exact copy of this Agreement. 

12.4 The Agreement may be executed in as many counterparts as may be required, 
and it shall not be necessary that the signatures of each Party appear on each 
counterpart; but it shall be sufficient that the signature of each Party appear on 
one or more of the counterparts, all together shall constitute a single agreement. 
The Agreement may be executed in counterparts, including by electronic 
transmission (PDF, facsimile or otherwise), each of which when executed and 
delivered is an original, but all the counterparts together constitute the same 
document. 
 



12 
 

[continued to the next page for signatures] 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 

executed by their duly authorized officers or representatives. 
 
 
XXXX      Benchmark Subsurface Utility Services, LLC  
 
 
 
By: __________________________ By: _______________________ 
 (Signature)     (Signature) 
 
  

__________________________     ______ 
 (Print Name)     (Print Name) 
 
 
Title: __________________________ Title:      ____________ 
 
 
Date:    __________________________ Date:    ________________________ 
 
 
Customer’s Address:             Benchmark’s Address: 
XXXX                                  9500 King Air Ct. 
Attn: VP Implementation/Operations                      Ashland, AV. 23005 
913 S. Burnside Ave. 
Gonzales, LA. 70737-4258 
 
. 



13 
 

Exhibit A 
 

Benchmark Subsurface Utility Services, LLC will charge for services rendered hereunder as 
follows: 
 
 
 

Description Rate Quantity 
Option 1: Flat Rate Per Month for 2 Locators   $9,750.00 per locator 2 per month 
Option 2: Price per ticket $23.50 per ticket TBD 

Locate after hour Emergency tickets  
$75.00 per hour, 2 
hour min. TBD 

 
Hourly Rate for Special Requests $75.00 per hour TBD 

 
 
 
 
 

 



INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

 

THIS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into as of the ____ day of ____________, 2023, by and between TY WILSON, a lawyer 

in good standing with the State Bar of Georgia, with an address of 2 East Bryan Street, Suite 400, 

Savannah, Georgia 31401 (hereinafter the “Solicitor”), and the City of Pooler, Georgia, a Georgia 

municipal corporation having its principal place of business at 100 SW Highway 80, Pooler, 

Georgia 31322 (hereinafter the “City”).    

 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 

WHEREAS, the Municipal Court of Pooler (the Court) is operated under the legal 

authority of the City, and has jurisdiction over cases wherein charges are brought against 

individuals for violations of municipal ordinances and certain state laws; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to properly handle the business of the Court and prosecution of 

municipal offenses and violations of state law, the City desires to hire the Solicitor, and the 

Solicitor desires to perform services for the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Solicitor and the City desire to enter into this Agreement to establish the 

terms and conditions of the relationship between them. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and 

agreements set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt, sufficiency 

and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. Engagement. The City hereby engages Solicitor, and Solicitor accepts such engagement, 

to provide to City the following services: Serve as the Municipal Court Solicitor for the 

City in accordance with the City Charter, the ordinances of the City and the laws of the 

State of Georgia. 

2. Place of Work. The Solicitor will perform the services as required by the City on a part-

time basis at such times and places as Solicitor shall determine except that court shall be 

held at places designated by the City. 

3. Duties. Solicitor shall use best efforts and judgment in performing services set forth in 

Section 1 of this Agreement on behalf of the City. The duties of the Solicitor shall include 

contact with the City’s customers and the general public and as such the Solicitor shall at 

all times behave in a professional manner in representing the interests of the City. The 

Solicitor shall be free to arrange the manner of performance of the duties hereunder and 

will not be expected to maintain a schedule of duties, except as necessary to comply with 

the reasonable assignments requested by City from time to time. 

4. Manner of Performance. Solicitor will determine the method, details and means of 

performing the services on behalf of City. City shall have no right to, and shall not, control 

the manner or determine the method of accomplishing Solicitor’s services.  Solicitor will 

be responsible for supplying all administrative personnel, equipment, and instrumentalities 



required to perform the duties under this Agreement; provided, however, that Solicitor shall 

not be responsible for providing court staff to the City. 

5. Standard of Performance. The Solicitor shall comply with all federal, state and local laws 

in performing the duties hereunder. The Solicitor shall adhere to, and perform the duties 

herein in conformity with all practices, procedures, and/or standards as set forth by the 

Prosecuting Attorneys’ Council of Georgia, established under OCGA § 15-18-40 et seq. as 

amended. 

6. Compensation. For the services to be rendered and performed hereunder by the Solicitor, 

the Solicitor shall be paid Four Hundred Fifty Dollars ($450.00) per court docket for 

services rendered pursuant to this Agreement. Payment may be made in a lump sum or 

monthly as agreed upon. The Solicitor shall invoice the City for the services, designating 

the date of service and type of docket. The Solicitor acknowledges this is an independent 

contractor agreement, and shall be responsible for payment of any and all taxes on the 

compensation paid to Solicitor hereunder, and agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 

City therefrom. As an independent Solicitor, the Solicitor shall not be entitled to receive 

any fringe benefits that are generally available to the Employees of the City, and shall only 

be entitled to receive the cash compensation specifically set forth herein. 

7. Independent Solicitor. The parties agree that the Solicitor will act as an independent 

Solicitor in performing the duties hereunder and is not an employee, agent, joint venturer 

or partner of City. The Solicitor shall not incur any obligations on behalf of the City without 

the City’s written consent. The Solicitor is not an employee of the City and the Solicitor 

shall have the exclusive responsibility for appropriate withholding of the taxes relating to 

compensation hereunder, and the City shall not withhold any federal, state or local taxes 

thereon. Further, the City is not obligated to and will  not withhold FICA (Social Security) 

from payments made to Solicitor and will not make state or federal unemployment 

insurance contributions on behalf of Solicitor. Upon request by City, Solicitor shall provide 

proof of compliance with the provisions of this section and failure to comply with same 

shall constitute a breach of this Agreement by Solicitor. 

8. Term. This Agreement establishes an at will relationship between the City and Solicitor. 

The City may terminate the Agreement at any time without prior notice. This Agreement 

may only be terminated by Solicitor upon providing written notice at least thirty (30) days 

in advance of the date of termination. A termination notice must be sent via certified or 

registered US mail to the address of the parties set forth in the opening paragraph of this 

Agreement, or be provided via hand delivery with a written confirmation of receipt. Formal 

notice may be waived by the City. 

9. Expenses. City shall only reimburse Solicitor for expenditures if Solicitor had prior 

authorization from City to incur such expenditures. 

10. Construction. The parties acknowledge that each had a part in the preparation of this 

Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be strictly construed against either party. 



11. Georgia Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

provisions of the laws of the State of Georgia. 

12. Severability. Should any provision of this Agreement be held invalid by any court of 

competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this 

Agreement. 

13. Captions. The captions or headings of the sections or other subdivision hereof are inserted 

only as a matter of convenience or for reference and shall have no effect on the meaning 

of the provisions hereof.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized representative and the Solicitor has caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date 

first written above.    

 

 

 

Solicitor: 

 

 

 Ty Wilson 

  

  

City of Pooler:  

  

 

Attest: (Name and Title) 

 

 

 

Witness  

 



INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 

 

THIS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made and 

entered into as of the ____ day of ____________, 2023, by and between Lauren Tignor, Esq., a 

lawyer in good standing with the State Bar of Georgia, with a current office address of 25 Bull 

Street, Suite 200, Savannah, Georgia 31401 (hereinafter the "Public Defender"), and the City of 

Pooler, Georgia, a Georgia municipal corporation having its principal place of business at 100 SW 

Highway 80, Pooler, Georgia 31322 (hereinafter the "City").    

 

W I T N E S S E T H: 

 

WHEREAS, the City desires to hire the Public Defender, and the Public Defender desires 

to perform services for the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Public Defender and the City desire to enter into this Agreement to 

establish the terms and conditions of the relationship between them. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, covenants and 

agreements set forth herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt, sufficiency 

and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows: 

 

1. Engagement. The City hereby engages Public Defender, and Public Defender accepts such 

engagement, to provide to City the following services: Serve as the Municipal Court Public 

Defender for the City in accordance with the City Charter, the ordinances of the City and 

the laws of the State of Georgia. 

2. Place of Work. The Public Defender will perform the services as required by the City on 

a part-time basis at such times and places as Public Defender shall determine except that 

court shall be held at places designated by the City. 

3. Duties. Public Defender shall use best efforts and judgment in performing services set forth 

in Section 1 of this Agreement on behalf of the City. The duties of the Public Defender 

shall include contact with the City's customers and the general public and as such the Public 

Defender shall at all times behave in a professional manner in representing the interests of 

the City. The Public Defender shall be free to arrange the manner of performance of the 

duties hereunder and will not be expected to maintain a schedule of duties, except as 

necessary to comply with the reasonable assignments requested by City from time to time. 

4. Manner of Performance. Public Defender will determine the method, details and means 

of performing the services on behalf of City. City shall have no right to, and shall not, 

control the manner or determine the method of accomplishing Public Defender’s services.  

Public Defender will be responsible for supplying all administrative personnel, equipment, 

and instrumentalities required to perform the duties under this Agreement; provided, 

however, that Public Defender shall not be responsible for providing court staff to the City. 

5. Standard of Performance. The Public Defender shall comply with all federal, state and 

local laws in performing the duties hereunder. The Public Defender shall adhere to, and 



perform the duties herein in conformity with all practices, procedures, and/or standards as 

set forth by the Georgia Public Defender Standards Council, pursuant to the Georgia 

Indigent Defense Act of 2003, O.C.G.A. § 17-12-1 et seq. as amended. 

6. Compensation. For the services to be rendered and performed hereunder by the Public 

Defender, the Public Defender shall be paid monthly the as follows: Four Hundred Fifty 

Dollars ($450.00), per court session, and Two Hundred Fifty Dollars ($250.00) per in-

person jail visit to interview clients. Notwithstanding, Public Defender shall not be paid 

more than $500.00 in any one month for in-person jail visits. The Public Defender 

acknowledges this is an independent contractor agreement, and shall be responsible for 

payment of any and all taxes on the compensation paid to Public Defender hereunder, and 

agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the City therefrom. As an independent Public 

Defender, the Public Defender shall not be entitled to receive any fringe benefits that are 

generally available to the Employees of the City, and shall only be entitled to receive the 

cash compensation specifically set forth herein. 

7. Independent Public Defender. The parties agree that the Public Defender will act as an 

independent public defender in performing the duties hereunder and is not an employee, 

agent, joint venturer or partner of City. The Public Defender shall not incur any obligations 

on behalf of the City without the City's written consent. The Public Defender is not an 

employee of the City and the Public Defender shall have the exclusive responsibility for 

appropriate withholding of the taxes relating to compensation hereunder, and the City shall 

not withhold any federal, state or local taxes thereon. Further, the City is not obligated to 

and will  not withhold FICA (Social Security) from payments made to Public Defender and 

will not make state or federal unemployment insurance contributions on behalf of Public 

Defender. Upon request by City, Public Defender shall provide proof of compliance with 

the provisions of this section and failure to comply with same shall constitute a breach of 

this Agreement by Public Defender. 

8. Term. This Agreement shall be an at will term, terminable by either party, and may only 

be terminated upon providing written notice at least thirty (30) days in advance of the date 

of termination. A termination notice must be sent via certified or registered US mail to the 

address of the parties set forth in the opening paragraph of this Agreement, or be provided 

via hand delivery with a written confirmation of receipt. 

9. Expenses. City shall only reimburse Public Defender for expenditures if Public Defender 

had prior authorization from City to incur such expenditures. 

10. Assignment. The City specifically contracts for services of the Public Defender, but from 

time to time in the event Public Defender is unavailable Public Defender may assign, 

subcontract or delegate the duties hereunder without notice to City. 

11. Construction. The parties acknowledge that each had a part in the preparation of this 

Agreement, and this Agreement shall not be strictly construed against either party. 

12. Georgia Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 

provisions of the laws of the State of Georgia. 



13. Severability. Should any provision of this Agreement be held invalid by any court of 

competent jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this 

Agreement. 

14. Captions. The captions or headings of the sections or other subdivision hereof are inserted 

only as a matter of convenience or for reference and shall have no effect on the meaning 

of the provisions hereof.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized representative and the Public Defender has caused this Agreement to be executed as of 

the date first written above.    

 

 

 

Public Defender: 

 

 

 Lauren Tignor, Esq. 

  

  

City of Pooler:  

  

 

Attest: (Name and Title) 

 

 

 

Witness  

 


	I. ROLL CALL/DECLARATION OF QUORUM
	II. CALL TO ORDER
	III. INVOCATION
	IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	V. ANNOUNCEMENTS
	VI. CONSENT AGENDA
	A. City Council Meeting Minutes of December 19, 2022
	6A_City Council Meeting_2022-12-19_Minutes_draft

	B. City Council Executive Session Minutes of December
	6B_City Council Meeting_2022-12-19_Executive Session

	C. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Commodo
	6C_Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Commodores Deaux, LLC at 100 Pine Barren Road, Suit

	D. Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Traders
	6D_Alcoholic Beverage License Application for Traders Queen DBA Ichiban Steakhouse and Sushi Bar 

	E. Temporary/Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permi
	6E_TemporarySpecial Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application for Karen Taylor Brownlee on Ja

	F. Temporary/Special Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permi
	6F_TemporarySpecial Event (Dispensing Alcohol) Permit Application for Jacqueline Lambert on March

	G. Department Reports
	1. Public Works
	6G1_Public Works

	2. Finance
	6G2_Finance

	3. Fire
	6G3_Fire

	4. Police
	6G4_Police

	5. Recreation
	6G5_Recreation

	6. Planning & Zoning
	6G6_Planning & Zoning



	VII. ORDINANCES, PROCLAMATIONS, RESOLUTIONS
	A. Proclamation for Human Trafficking Prevention Mont
	7A_Proclamation for Human Trafficking Prevention Month

	B. Resolution R2023-01.A - To Fix and Publish Municip
	7B_City Information_Resolution 2023-01.A - To Fix and Publish Municipal Election Qualifying Period and Fees 


	VIII. OLD BUSINESS
	A. Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C
	8A_Zoning Map Amendment for 100 Commerce Court from C-P to C-2


	IX. NEW BUSINESS
	A. Amend Zoning Conditions for 12 Outparcels of the C
	9A_Amend Zoning Conditions for 12 Outparcels of the Clyde E. Daniels Tract

	B. Conditional Use Request for an Assisted Living Fac
	9B_Conditional Use for an Assisted Living Facility in Clear Lake Reserve

	C. Conditional Use Request for American Craftsman Ren
	9C_Conditional Use Request for American Craftsman Renovations to Operate a Cabinet Manufacturing 

	D. Amendment to the Wynn-Capallo PUD Master Plan and 
	9D_Amendment to the Wynn-Capallo PUD Master Plan and Development Standards

	E. Site Plan for Nordic Drive Trailer Storage Yard
	9E_Site Plan for Nordic Drive Trailer Storage Yard

	F. Site Plan for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road
	9F_Site Plan for 1707 Old Dean Forest Road

	G. Site Plan for Harmony Subdivision Amenity Site
	9G_Site Plan for Harmony Subdivision Amenity Site

	H. Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Creek Circ
	9H_Site Plan for My Place Hotel at 14 Mill Circle

	I. Site Plan for Dave & Busters on Tanger Outlets Bou
	9I_Site Plan for Dave & Busters on Tanger Outlets Boulevard

	J. Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway)
	9J_Site Plan for Nine Squares (1541 Pooler Parkway)

	K. Site Plan for Walk On's Restaurant and Vet Center 
	9K_Site Plan for Walk On's Restaurant and Vet Center on Half Moon Way

	L. Site Plan for Highway 80 Car Wash
	9L_Site Plan for Highway 80 Car Wash

	M. Underground Facilities Locating and Marking Servic
	9M_Underground Facilities Locating and Marking Service Agreement with Benchmark Subsurface Utilit

	N. Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor with Ty Wil
	9N_Contract for Municipal Court Solicitor with Ty Wilson

	O. Contract for Municipal Court Public Defender with 
	9O_Contract for Municipal Court Public Defender with Lauren Tignor


	X. EXECUTIVE SESSION
	XI. ADJOURNMENT



